LAUNCESTON CASTLE
Launceston, Cornwall PL15 7DR

26 " September 2018
As with most of our reasonably local castles, | can remember a visit many years previously. On

this occasion, it was over 30 years ago and my main recollection is of my father-in-law rushing
us around, as he always seemed rather fond of doing. Today though, we had plenty of time
and enjoyed a pre-castle cappuccino in a quiet part of Launceston, before walking along to our
destination on an increasingly sunny morning.

Lannstevan, the Cornish name of Launceston, means the ‘church enclosure of St Stephen’, as
St Stephen a few miles north-west had been the main area of religion and commerce in the
11" century at the time of William the Conqueror. The castle and town were originally known
as Dunheved, although there seems to have been some confusion regarding three separate
townships (Launceston St Stephen, Dunheved and Newport) that had grown up in the same
area - especially as each of the three adopted the name of Launceston at various times.

Dunheved had become a settlement after the Norman invasion when Robert, Count of Mortain
(c.1031-c.1095) and half-brother of William the Conqueror was granted the earldom of
Cornwall. He decided to build a castle on the most commanding hilltop within miles, to
dominate the surrounding area. In the Domesday Book of 1086, it was recorded that
Launceston was held by the Count of Mortain, who had his castle there. Launceston?
Dunheved? | remain quite confused. What's more certain in my mind, though, is that the
castle would originally have been of the earth and timber type, resplendent on its large motte.

We appropriately made our way along Castle Street and approached the castle with its large
motte via the north gatehouse. This had been the main entrance from the town until the late
12" century and had unsurprisingly been known as the town gate. It had been home to the
castle's constable and was once the site of the prison known as Doomsdale - but more of that
later. There had originally been a deep ditch around the castle, crossed by a fortified bridge
that had been destroyed in the 18" century and the long entrance passage would have been
closed by at least one set of doors and a portcullis.

The north gatehouse (photo by Alan Santillo)

Taking a photo of the north gatehouse proved problematical because of the light, but
fortunately my handy photographer was alongside me with his far more upmarket camera than
mine - but even so, the sky refused to come out as blue as it actually was.

Passing through the gatehouse, we found ourselves inside the bailey, which is a designated
public area with benches and information boards. It's obviously a popular walkway between
the north gatehouse and the south gatehouse, but what immediately hit us in the eye were the
foundations of the great hall that had remained in use as an assize hall until the 17" century.
Further back near the south gatehouse were the kitchen excavations and what is presumed to
have been a narrow administrative hall, plus a latrine pit.
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The great hall looking towards the north gatehouse

Leaving the esteemed latrine pit, we walked up to the English Heritage entrance cum shop and
were welcomed to the castle, before deciding to forego the small exhibition and head straight
for the keep before hordes of visitors arrived. As it happened, we were the second visitors on
site and it was a pleasure to take photos of such a stunning mound in a beautiful blue sky
(which is something I've probably never expressed in quite those words before).

Approaching the stunning mound

Launceston Castle, or Kastel Lannstevan in the old Celtic lingo, was in a very strategic position,
not only for its stupendous motte, but also for being at the main fording point into Cornwall. It
was most likely established as a result of the 1068 south-western rebellion centred on Exeter,
but whatever the actual reason, Robert, Count of Mortain certainly had his head screwed on.

The site was high enough to overlook not only the approaches to the River Tamar, but also a
view stretching from Bodmin Moor to Dartmoor. Robert chose to establish his court and the
administrative centre of his domain at Dunheved or Launceston and the town became the
centre of Cornish government. He also translocated an existing market held at St Stephen's
church to outside his new castle, presumably to profit from the trade. Hmmm.

The keep on top of the motte would have been reached by steps up its very steep slope. At the
bottom of the steps there would have been a causeway to connect the motte and the bailey,
which was otherwise separated by a deep moat. Excavations had revealed that the bailey
rampart had been formed by three successive increases in the bank's height, with stones and
earth, as well as timber ramparts. This meant that the castle had developed as Norman
earthwork and timber castles typically did, with the timber later being replaced by stone.

After Robert died, his son William, Count of Mortain (c.1074-1140) became earl in his place.
However, William had a turbulent relationship with his cousin, King Henry | of England, which
resulted in William storming off to Normandy with trouble in mind and as a consequence, he
was stripped of all his English honours. Launceston castle was therefore forfeit to the Crown.
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It later fell into the hands of Reginald de Dunstanville (c.1110-1175), who was one of King
Henry I's fourteen illegitimate children. Fourteen! Reginald was granted the earldom of
Cornwall by King Stephen, his first cousin. However, he later supported the Empress Matilda,
Stephen's enemy, which led to the forfeit of his lands and honours.

Although the age of the stonework at Launceston Castle has no documents to verify its origins,
the first of these constructions are thought to have been undertaken by Reginald soon after
the middle of the 12™ century. This would have included the massive shell keep on the motte,
with walls around 12 feet/3.66 metres thick.

It was not quite circular and had a wall-walk about 20 feet/6 metres above its ground level,
designed mainly for use as a fighting platform. The stairway linking the keep to the bailey and
the curtain wall enclosing the bailey have also been attributed to Reginald, as well as wooden
bailey houses being rebuilt in stone - some of these houses may have been for feudal knights,
who were granted local property in return for defending the castle.

oL

Approach to the keep (D-shaped guard tower in front)

No further major construction work is thought to have been undertaken until the castle was in
the care of Richard Plantagenet, 1°* Earl of Cornwall (1209-1272). He added the central high
round tower within the earlier wall, roofing over the space in between. The motte was
separated from the bailey by a ditch (now crossed by a modern bridge) and a guard tower was
built at the lower end of the keep stairway, although all that remains now is a D-shaped part of
it. At around this time, the gatehouses were modified and the perimeter wall rebuilt in stone.

Remains of the D-shaped tower (photo by Alan Santillo)

It was time to ascend the 60+ steps to the top and for a while we were the only ones there to
investigate the new tower with its walls 10 feet/3 metres thick, rising to a summit around 30
feet/9 metres above the wall-walk of the shell keep. The space in between the two walls was
too narrow for rooms, but the holes where the wooden floor had been inserted for the roofing
could be seen around the outside of the inner walls.
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The tower itself contained two rooms, one above the other. The lower room may have been a
store, or even a dungeon, with one doorway from which a staircase within the thick wall led to
the upper room, known as the earl's chamber. Although the floor of this room no longer
remains, it once spanned the width of the tower and in the north side of its wall, the remnants
of an old fireplace can be seen. There was a large window overlooking a deer park that had
been established to the south-west of the castle.

It was dank as castles tend to be and not exactly easy to manoeuvre safely, but at least it was
a fine day and neither windy nor rainy. Upon continuing carefully up the staircase within the
wall, we emerged to behold a stunning view of Launceston and beyond. Although the view
would of course have been very different in Richard of Cornwall's time, no doubt his guests
were impressed by the deer park stretching out towards Bodmin Moor.

= e ATENSE .
Aonderful view of Launceston from the tower

Richard had been granted the earldom of Cornwall in 1227 and appeared to take Launceston
Castle seriously as the administrative centre of Cornwall. However, all the building that took
place there was at least partly thanks to revenues from the Cornish tin mining industry and the
work may have been carried out to impress the Cornish nobility, with whom Richard had a
tricky relationship. He only visited Cornwall occasionally during his lifetime...

Despite the lack of contact, the castle was thriving with a large community within its bailey
walls. A new great hall was built in the south-west corner and the castle's inhabitants had a
reasonably good standard of living, eating a wide range of food (including prime cuts of
venison). It was therefore a pity that when Richard's son Edmund, 2" Earl of Cornwall (1249-
1300) inherited the castle, he moved the earldom's administration to Lostwithiel to be closer to
the tin mining industries. Thus began the decline and fall...

Edmund died with no heirs and the castle again reverted to the Crown. King Edward Il (1284-
1327) gave the earldom, including Launceston Castle, to his favoured friend Piers de Gaveston
(nothing to do with Gaviscon), who proceeded to be executed in 1312. The castle eventually
passed in 1337 to King Edward Ill's son, Edward the Black Prince (1330-1376), who had been
made the first Duke of Cornwall when the county changed from an earldom to a duchy.

A survey of Launceston Castle at the time was quite damning, mentioning ruinous walls that
should have been repaired by knights of the castle guard, defective steps, a state of decay in
several areas and two dysfunctional prisons - one inadequately covered with lead and the
other weak and almost useless. By this time, the castle's constable would have been living in
the north gatehouse. Repairs were undertaken in the 1340s and Edward held a meeting at the
castle in 1353, but the castle was mainly used for judicial assizes and as a prison.

We were reluctant to relinquish such a good vantage point from the top of the castle,
especially with so much to look at on a very clear day. From another angle, there was a good
view of the castle remains below, including the well and out to the south gatehouse. It felt as if
we really could see for miles ... and miles ... and miles.
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Castle remains still a parf of the town (photo by athiIIo)

In the 15™ century, the high tower was turned into another prison building, as the castle's
main function remained a centre of lawfulness - medieval style. In the Middle Ages, royal
castles were often used as county gaols, as it was difficult not only to keep law and order, but
also to administer justice. King Henry I, who reigned from 1100-1135, had sensibly introduced
assizes, or travelling courts, as a measure to ensure the population was governed similarly
throughout the country.

Anecdotally, the arrival of the circuit judges was feared by many. When the watchman on
Launceston church tower broadcast news of their arrival at the bridge over the River Tamar,
local people would flee to the woods and moors - and there must have been plenty of good
hiding places. The travelling law courts were held at Launceston Castle right up until 1837.

Aside from the lawful aspect, the castle seems to have played little part in the Wars of the
Roses (1455-1485). It was given to a Yorkist in 1484 and then the following year became the
responsibility of the Lancastrian Sir Richard Edgecumbe.

There was some action in 1548, when Sir William Body was sent by King Henry IV to destroy
Catholic shrines at Helston and was killed by two Cornish men. This resulted in the arrest of 28
local men, who were subsequently executed at the castle. Understandably, this engendered
resentment, which escalated when the Book of Common Prayer (presenting the theology of the
Reformation in the English language) was foisted upon the traditionally Roman Catholic
population in Devon and Cornwall.

It wasn't all about religion, as two years of rampant inflation and the quadrupling of wheat
prices had added fuel to the fire of discontent, until the uprising known as the Prayer Book
Rebellion took place. An army of angry men gathered at Bodmin, led by its mayor and two
Catholic landowners, John Winslade of Tregarrick and Humphrey Arundell of Helland. They
marched through Cornwall and took Launceston Castle, probably without a struggle.

This Cornish army must have provoked fear, as many of the county's gentry sought protection
in old castles. Some took to St Michael's Mount, where they were besieged by the rebels and in
due course surrendered. Sir Richard Grenville (c.1495-1550) chose Trematon Castle as his
place of safety, but he was deserted by many of his followers and when lured outside for
discussion, he was seized and the castle was ransacked.

He and his wife were imprisoned in Launceston Castle, where he contracted an illness from
which he died. The rebels were defeated and Launceston was retaken, with Humphrey Arundell
(c.1512-1550) captured fighting in the street. He was firstly imprisoned in the castle, before
being transferred to Rougemont Castle in Exeter and thence to the Tower of London. He came
to a sticky end when he was found guilty of treason and was hanged, drawn and quartered.

Meanwhile, we were still hanging around up at the tower, just enjoying being at such a historic
place on such a clear, beautiful morning and trying to find unusual angles to photograph!
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More visitors were arriving at the keep, so we made our way downwards again. | was sorry to
learn that during the 16™ century, the castle began to be used as a rubbish tip by the town
and the deer park, no longer needed to generate venison for the duchy, fell into disuse. By
1584, the castle itself was described by an antiquarian as being abandoned.

During the Civil War (1642-1651), the castle was garrisoned by the Royalists, but both the
town and castle were taken by General Fairfax for the Parliamentarians in 1646. Before
retreating, the Royalist forces were said to have stripped the castle of the lead from its roofs
and given the timbers to townspeople to use for fuel. It was left in such a bad condition that
the Parliamentarians didn't bother to slight it - to slight in this context meaning to partially or
completely destroy a fortification in order to make it unusable as a fortress.

In 1650, the assizes were moved to a new hall built in the town itself and Parliament sold the
properties of the duchy of Cornwall. The castle, deer park and gaol were bought by Colonel
Robert Bennett, a Cromwell supporter, who acted as constable. By then, the only habitable
part of the castle was the north gatehouse, partially a prison known as Doomsdale, where the
constable lived in lodgings.

In 1656, George Fox (1624-1691), founder of the Quakers, was arrested with other members
of his society and imprisoned for distributing religious pamphlets. In court, he refused to
remove his hat and was subsequently kept at Launceston Castle for eight months. His opinion
of the prison known as Doomsdale was very low: "Doomsdale is a very nasty place ... and the
people of Launceston are dark and hardened" - thankfully things have changed nowadays!

When King Charles Il was restored to the throne in 1660, Bennett was removed from his post
and replaced. In the late 17" century, a small gaol was erected in the middle of the bailey,
which was also used for executions. It was bought by the constable at the time and used as
the county gaol. However, despite a succession of different constables, it was criticised heavily
for its treatment of inmates and for its poor facilities.

Things didn't improve. A very negative report by a prison reformer in 1777 was followed in
1779 by Parliament granting £500 for improvements, although in exchange the county had to
take over the gaol's maintenance. By the 19™ century, however, Launceston was declining in
importance and eventually the gaol was the only building left in the castle grounds. After the
assizes and the seat of county government had been moved in 1838 from Launceston to
Bodmin, the gaol was finally demolished in 1842.

Hugh Percy, 3™ Duke of Northumberland (1785-1847), whose father in 1795 had acquired the
rights to the post of constable from the Duke of Cornwall, had the bailey landscaped and
turned into a public park. The building containing the small exhibition where we'd entered was
once used as the park keeper's accommodation - and what memories the term 'park keeper’
evokes, from days when parks were wonderful green expanses for innocent pleasures, with a
park keeper who might appear to dispense a telling-off if you were doing anything dodgy!
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The bailey was levelled during the later stages of the Second World War to accommodate some
temporary Nissen huts that were used as a hospital for United States army personnel, but in
1945, the site was leased by the Air Ministry to be used as offices. In 1951, the Ministry of
Works took over the guardianship of the castle and the Air Ministry left the site in 1956, when
the bailey was grassed over again. Archaeological excavations in the bailey between 1961 and
1982 uncovered many of the medieval buildings.

After we'd finished our amble around the motte and perused the small exhibition in the ticket
office cum shop, we exited the paying part of the castle and wandered over to investigate the
bailey and south gatehouse. What was most noticeable was how peaceful it was inside the
bailey compared to just outside the south gatehouse, where the traffic rushed by.

The south gatehouse from the road (photo by Alan Santillo)

It had been a very enjoyable morning and | felt I'd learned a lot about Launceston. On a future
visit, an investigation of Lawrence House Museum would be an excellent way of learning more!
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